

## **Central Coast Community Energy**

70 GARDEN CT MONTEREY, CA 93940 1 (877) 455-2223

## **REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS**

DERMS Platform
for
Aggregated Load Flexibility
and
Demand Response

Proposals are due by 5:00 PM (PDT) on December 05, 2025

## **Table of Contents**

Table	of Contents	3
1.0	INTENT	5
2.0	BACKGROUND	5
3.0	CALENDAR OF EVENTS	8
4.0	POINTS OF CONTACT & SUBMISSION	10
5.0	SCOPE OF WORK	11
6.0	CONTRACT TERM	15
7.0	QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS	15
8.0	PROPOSAL PACKAGE REQUIREMENTS	18
9.0	SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS & CONDITIONS	23
10.0	SELECTION & SCORING CRITERIA	25
11.0	FEE SCHEDULE	26
12.0	SMALL AND LOCAL PREFERENCE	26
13.0	INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS	27
14.0	RESERVATION OF RIGHTS	30
15.0	SIMULTANEOUS CONTRACT NEGOTIATION	30
16.0	AGREEMENT TO TERMS AND CONDITIONS	30
17.0	CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND COLLUSION	31
18.0	RIGHTS TO PERTINENT MATERIALS AND PUBLIC RECORDS ACT	31
19.0	PIGGYBACK CLAUSE	31
20.0	SAMPLE AGREEMENT SECTION	32

# **SOLICITATION DETAILS SECTION**

#### 1.0 INTENT

1.1 Central Coast Community Energy, hereinafter referred to as 3CE, is requesting proposals from qualified vendors to provide a Distributed Energy Resource Management System (DERMS) platform that enables real-time and scheduled aggregation, monitoring, and control of distributed energy resources (DERs) for load flexibility, demand response (DR), and grid services within 3CE's service area. This Request for Proposals (RFP) is expected to result in a contract with a term of up to five fiscal years.

## 2.0 BACKGROUND

## 2.1 Organization Overview

3CE is a Community Choice Aggregator (CCA) established in 2017 under California Public Utilities Code Section 366.2, operating as a joint powers authority pursuant to Government Code Section 6500 et seq. 3CE provides electricity service to over 1.2 million residents, commercial and industrial businesses, managing approximately 515,000 customer accounts across a vast service territory encompassing five counties: Monterey, San Benito, Santa Cruz, San Luis Obispo, and Santa Barbara. 3CE's jurisdiction extends throughout both incorporated municipalities and unincorporated communities across this expansive Central Coast region.

3CE has strategically developed an extensive portfolio of customer programs designed to accelerate clean energy adoption and enhance regional grid reliability. This comprehensive program architecture covers three critical sectors: Transportation, Buildings, and Agriculture, delivering solutions including EV charging infrastructure, high-efficiency heat pump water heaters, battery storage systems, and demand response initiatives. 3CE is expanding strategically into energy optimization through its residential battery rebate program, which serves as a key component of the organization's distributed energy resource strategy.

The residential battery rebate program provides post-purchase rebates for customers who purchase and install qualifying residential battery systems. Program participants are required to discharge 50% of their battery capacity during peak hours of 4pm-9pm, helping to reduce grid stress during periods of highest demand. While 3CE does not actively control customer batteries, the program includes an optional scheduling assistance service that participants can utilize. This service automatically sends discharge commands to enrolled battery systems during the 4pm-9pm window, ensuring compliance with program requirements while providing convenience for customers. This foundation of customerowned DERs positions 3CE to transition toward more sophisticated DERMS platform that can optimize grid operations and customer benefits.

## 2.2 System Requirements

3CE is experiencing sustained load growth driven by customer adoption of electric vehicles, heat pumps, battery storage systems, and other electrification technologies. While supporting statewide decarbonization goals, these trends create higher system peaks, increased load variability, and operational complexity requiring advanced demand-side management solutions.

To facilitate this energy transition, 3CE actively promotes customer adoption of electric alternatives through targeted incentive programs. These include rebates for electric heat pump water heaters, electric vehicle purchase incentives, induction cooking equipment rebates, and heat pump HVAC system upgrades. By encouraging the shift away from natural gas appliances and gasoline-powered vehicles, 3CE helps customers reduce their carbon footprint while building a more electrified customer base.

The organization recognizes that successful electrification requires sophisticated energy optimization strategies to manage the resulting grid impacts. 3CE's current approach to energy optimization encompasses load shifting to move consumption away from peak periods, peak shaving to reduce maximum demand, and coordinated operation of distributed energy resources to maximize system efficiency. These optimization efforts include time-of-use rate structures that incentivize off-peak consumption and demand response programs that provide real-time load management capabilities.

As customer adoption of electrification technologies accelerates, 3CE's system requirements continue to evolve toward more dynamic and responsive grid management capabilities. The combination of increasing distributed energy resources, variable renewable generation, and growing electrified loads creates a compelling need for a comprehensive DERMS platform. Such a system would enable centralized coordination and optimization of diverse distributed assets, provide real-time visibility into grid conditions, and automate demand response capabilities to maintain grid stability while minimizing costs for all customers. The implementation of DERMS represents a critical infrastructure investment to support 3CE's continued growth and evolving operational complexity.

#### 2.3 Procurement Objective

3CE seeks to procure a DERMS platform capable of coordinating and optimizing diverse distributed energy assets including battery storage, smart thermostats, electric vehicle chargers, and industrial load controls. The selected platform must provide comprehensive capabilities for customer enrollment, seamless DER integration, and scalable load flexibility management while supporting 3CE's existing program portfolio including the Electrify Your Home program and EV charging infrastructure initiatives.

The procurement objective centers on establishing a unified technology platform that can transform 3CE's current portfolio of individual programs into an integrated, automated demand flexibility ecosystem. This DERMS solution must bridge the gap between 3CE's existing manual coordination efforts, and the sophisticated, real-time optimization capabilities required to manage the growing complexity of distributed energy resources across the service territory.

3CE's overarching demand flexibility vision drives this procurement to provide and promote services that enable customers to easily, automatically, and comfortably shift their electricity use on a daily basis while earning direct bill savings and reducing future generation and distribution costs, as well as emissions. The ultimate goal is connecting all flexible loads to services that foster and enable reliable load shifting during both periodic grid emergencies and daily operations based on dynamic supply conditions, renewable energy availability, and system optimization opportunities.

## 2.4 Platform Requirements

The selected DERMS platform must:

- Enable secure customer enrollment and manage ongoing program participation in compliance with data privacy and cybersecurity requirements.
- Coordinate the dispatch of distributed energy resources (DERs) in response to grid reliability needs and market signals.
- Provide both customers and 3CE with real-time monitoring capabilities and access to historical data analytics.
- Integrate seamlessly with existing 3CE systems and support interoperability with approved third-party technologies.
- Integrate with diverse DER technologies, utility systems, and market platforms while ensuring regulatory compliance and secure operation.
- Deliver forecasting, analytics, and performance reporting capabilities.
- Support a pay-for-performance model that enables operational control of up to 80% of participating battery resources, with compensation tied to verified performance outcomes.
- Maintain high system uptime and availability to ensure reliable operation during critical hours.
- Generate reports that include, but are not limited to, the following metrics:
  - Demand flexibility achieved (kW and percentage of target) by site, program, and event.
  - Load reduction and load shifting performance by time interval.
  - Distributed Energy Resource (DER) participation, availability, and response rate.
  - Energy consumption and generation by asset category (e.g., solar, battery, EV, etc.).
  - Hourly Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions and avoided emissions.
  - System uptime, availability, and event success rate.
  - Control event summary, including event start/end time, duration, and performance verification.
- Support Data Granularity and Export:
  - Provide data at a minimum of hourly resolution and support 15-minute or finer granularity where applicable.
  - Enable data export in standard formats (e.g. CVS, Excel) and provide API access for integration with external reporting and analytics platforms.
  - o Include configurable dashboards that allow users to filter and visualize key

- metrics by program, time period, and asset category.
- Retain historical data for a minimum of five (5) years to support audits, trend analysis, and regulatory filings.
- Include the capability to integrate with 3CE's Energy Trading and Risk Management (ETRM) system to enable data exchange, reporting, and long-term data storage.
   Integration shall use secure, standards-based data transfer methods (e.g., API, SFTP) and ensure compatibility with current and future ETRM platforms. All data exchanges shall adhere to 3CE's cybersecurity and data governance requirements.

## 2.5 Vendor Expectations

3CE is seeking a CONTRACTOR with a proven record of delivering value in the current market and a strong commitment to long-term collaboration. The selected CONTRACTOR must demonstrate the ability to meet near-term program needs while outlining a clear strategy to evolve with 3CE's demand flexibility and decarbonization objectives.

This DERMS initiative will create value for customers, 3CE as a Load-Serving Entity (LSE), the electric grid, and solution providers. The CONTRACTOR will play a central role in integrating, managing, and scaling distributed energy resources to help achieve regional goals for affordability, reliability, and emissions reduction.

## 3.0 CALENDAR OF EVENTS

## **Anticipated Dates**

Issue RFP	October 24, 2025
Deadline for written questions	November 07, 2025, 5PM PST
3CE responds to questions on 3CE's website	November 18, 2025
Deadline to submit proposals	December 05, 2025, 5PM PST
Possible virtual interviews of top-scoring proposals	January 13-24, 2026
Possible Notice of Intent to Award	February 06, 2026
Anticipated award of contract	March 13, 2026
Anticipated pilot launch	May 1, 2026

This contract may be subject to approval by 3CE's Operations or Policy Board of Directors. This schedule is subject to change as necessary.

#### 3.1 Future Addenda

CONTRACTORS who received notification of this solicitation by means other than through a Central Coast Community Energy email shall contact the person designated in Central Coast Community Energy herein in section 4.1 to request to be added to the mailing list. Inclusion on the email contact list is the only way to ensure timely notification of any addenda and/or information that may be issued prior to the solicitation submittal date.

IT IS THE CONTRACTOR'S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY TO ENSURE THAT THEY RECEIVE ALL ADDENDA FOR THIS RFP by either informing Central Coast Community Energy of their contact information or by regularly checking Central Coast Community Energy's Solicitations webpage at: <u>Central Coast Community Energy Solicitations</u>. Addenda will be posted on the website as well.

## 3.2 Description of Calendar of Events

- **1. Issue RFP**. The Request for Proposal Packet may be obtained from 3CE's <u>website</u>. 3CE will not be responsible for the completeness or accuracy of the Request for Proposal Packet retrieved from any other source than directly from 3CE.
- 2. Deadline for Written Questions. Submit all written questions by the deadline to epRFP@3ce.org. Questions submitted in any other manner or format are not acceptable. All questions must be received via e-mail by 5:00 PM PST on November 07, 2025 (see CALENDAR OF EVENTS). Questions will be responded to in writing. Written summaries of all questions and answers will be published on 3CE's website. Anonymity of the source of specific written questions will be maintained in the written responses. A clarification addendum will be issued if necessary.
- 3. 3CE responds to questions on 3CE's website. Any material change to the RFP will be listed in an addendum to the RFP and posted on 3CE's website by November 18, 2025. Additional written questions must be received by 3CE no later than two (2) business days after an addendum is posted. 3CE reserves the right to post additional addenda until the RFP closing date and time. The CONTRACTOR is responsible for indicating acknowledgment, signing, and returning addendums with their response. 3CE reserves the right to reject any responses deemed to be non-responsive.
- **4. Deadline to submit proposals.** Proposals must be received no later than the deadline specified above.
- **5. Possible virtual interviews of top-scoring proposals.** 3CE will have the option to interview top CONTRACTOR(s). Interview meetings will be virtual.
- **6. Anticipated award of contract.** A formal written notice of intent to award the contract will be sent to the selected CONTRACTOR, also referred to as CONTRACTOR. The notice will include the anticipated date of the Operations Board meeting when the item will be presented.

#### 4.0 POINTS OF CONTACT & SUBMISSION

4.1 Questions and correspondence regarding this solicitation shall be directed to the Primary Contact for Central Coast Community Energy:

## Ani Ukpe

**Project Manager Energy Programs** 

70 Garden Ct, Suite 300 Monterey, CA 93940 Phone: (831)-901-3068

Email: epRFP@3ce.org

- 4.2 All questions regarding this solicitation shall be submitted digitally via email to <a href="mailto:epRFP@3ce.org">epRFP@3ce.org</a>. The questions will be researched, and the answers will be communicated to all known and interested CONTRACTORs after the deadline for receipt of questions. CONTRACTORs should include the title of this solicitation in the subject line. For copies of this RFP or its related materials in alternative formats for persons with disabilities, please email: epRFP@3ce.org.
- 4.3 Prospective CONTRACTORs shall not contact 3CE employees with questions or suggestions regarding this solicitation except through the primary contact person listed above. Any unauthorized contact may be considered undue pressure and cause for disqualification.

#### 5.0 SCOPE OF WORK

3CE's Distributed Energy Resource Management System (DERMS) initiative will provide the platform and tools to integrate, monitor, and manage distributed energy resources (DERs) across the service area. The system will support demand flexibility, customer enrollment and participation, grid services, and Load Modifying Capacity (LMC) contributions to Resource Adequacy (RA).

This RFP seeks a CONTRACTOR to provide, implement, and maintain a DERMS that will serve as the central platform for 3CE's demand flexibility programs.

At a minimum, the DERMS shall:

- Support phased integration with 3CE systems and approved third-party technologies using standardized protocols.
- Enable customer enrollment and participation through secure workflows, transparent program management, and clear reporting.
- Provide operational capabilities including forecasting, analytics, performance reporting, and DER dispatch in response to grid needs and market signals, with verified LMC measurement.
- Deliver measurable value for customers, 3CE, the grid, and solution providers through a pay-for-performance model that ensures reliability and cost-effectiveness.

## **Performance Targets**

- **2026 Baseline:** Establish 5 MW of demand flexibility capacity, combining 3CE programs and CONTRACTOR DER resources in the 3CE service area.
- 2030 Target: Scale to 25 MW of demand flexibility, inclusive of DER dispatch and RAeligible LMC.

These milestones support 3CE's goals for affordability, reliability, and decarbonization, while ensuring platform scalability.

## 5.1 Scope 1 – DERMS Platform Development

#### **CONTRACTOR Tasks**

- Design, deploy, and maintain the DERMS platform.
- Implement industry-standard protocols (IEEE 2030.5, etc.).
- Integrate with existing 3CE systems, including customer portals and administrative tools.
- Meet RA Load modification requirements
- Ensure cybersecurity, data privacy, and compliance with applicable grid codes.
- Provide foundational customer enrollment functionality to support initial program participation.

## **Key Deliverables**

- Fully functional DERMS platform deployed and validated.
- Documentation of system architecture, integration points, and supported protocols.
- Testing and validation reports demonstrating readiness.
- Secure enrollment workflows for future program expansion.

## 5.2 Scope 2 – Integration of Existing Programs (Phased)

#### **CONTRACTOR Tasks**

#### Phase I – BTM Batteries

- o Enroll and integrate behind-the-meter batteries.
- Provide monitoring, dispatch, and reporting functions.
- Enable upfront incentive payments with integrated pay-for-performance capability, supporting up to 75% controllability of enrolled resources.

## Phase II – EV Charging

- o Integrate and manage EV charging infrastructure.
- o Expand customer-facing enrollment portals specific to EV programs.
- Enhance analytics, reporting, and M&V for EV charging performance.

## Phase III – Heat Pump Water Heater and Smart Thermostat

- Integrate smart thermostats and heat pump water heaters as controllable demand-side resources.
- Expand customer enrollment and engagement tools tailored to these devices.
- Enhance analytics, reporting, and M&V for device-level performance.

## Phase IV – Additional Technologies

- o Incorporate new DERs such as microgrids or commercial load curtailment.
- Extend forecasting, reporting, and enrollment tools to new resources.
- Ensure RA-eligible LMC reporting (Supply side market integration)

The CONTRACTOR may propose an alternate sequencing of incremental phases based on best practices or technical considerations.

## **Key Deliverables**

- Phase I: Enrollment tools and reporting dashboards for BTM batteries.
- Phase II: Expanded DERMS platform supporting EV chargers and flexible loads.
- Phase III: Integration of additional DERs with full M&V functionality.
- Verified performance reports for each phase.
- Configurable analytics dashboards for 3CE staff and customers.

## 5.3 Scope 3 – CONTRACTOR Capacity Contribution

## **CONTRACTOR Tasks**

- Provide CONTRACTOR-owned or contracted DER capacity within 3CE's service area.
- Enroll CONTRACTOR resources into the DERMS.
- Contribute to 5 MW baseline by 2026 and 25 MW by 2030.
- Demonstrate dispatchable performance and provide verified LMC contributions.

## **Key Deliverables**

- Verified contribution of CONTRACTOR DER resources toward capacity milestones.
- Performance validation reports for CONTRACTOR-supplied resources.
- Pay-for-performance settlement documentation.

## 5.4 Scope 4 – Third-Party Administered Programs

#### **CONTRACTOR Tasks**

- Enable integration of third-party aggregators, original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), and Third-Party Operators (TPOs).
- Support secure onboarding of customers through third-party administered programs.
- Provide open, vendor-neutral platform access.
- Deliver tools for reporting, settlement, and oversight of third-party program performance.

## **Key Deliverables**

- Documented integration of third-party aggregators into the DERMS.
- Reporting and settlement tools are accessible to 3CE.
- Secure customer enrollment pathways for third-party programs.
- Compliance validation demonstrating vendor-neutral platform design.

## 5.5 Training and Knowledge Transfer

- Comprehensive training programs for 3CE staff.
- Technical documentation and standard operating procedures.
- Ongoing support for system operation and management.

## 5.6 Customer Support and Enrollment Assistance

- 3CE will retain ownership of all customer relationships and associated data throughout the implementation and operation of the VPP and DERMS.
- The CONTRACTOR shall provide the technology platform, integration, and analytical tools to enable real-time monitoring, control, and optimization of distributed assets.

- The CONTRACTOR shall support customer engagement as needed for technical onboarding and troubleshooting; however, all customer interactions, agreements, and data rights will remain under 3CE's management.
- The CONTRACTOR shall provide customer support for technical onboarding, device enrollment, and troubleshooting to ensure reliable DER participation.
  - Support shall include clear procedures and accessible channels (e.g., phone, email, or online portal) to resolve issues promptly
- All customer support activities shall be coordinated with 3CE and conducted in accordance with 3CE's customer service standards and data governance requirements.

## 5.7 Current DER Landscape in 3CE Service Area

3CE's service area includes a range of existing DER assets across sectors. These form the baseline for near-term DERMS integration under Phase 1 - 4. A summary of these assets is provided below:

Asset Type	Estimated Number of Devices	Estimated Existing Capacity (kW)	Characteristic	Integration Opportunity	Aligned 3CE Programs
Battery Storage (Residential + Commercial)	320	4,700 kWh	Installed behind- the-meter; paired with solar in many cases	Dispatchable; key asset for demand response and resilience efforts	Residential Battery Program
EV Chargers – Residential and Commercial	2,893	28,930	Customer owned; high evening load concentration	Load shifting	Electrify Your Ride
EV Chargers – Fleet and Public	229	3,550	Member agency owned; high evening load concentration	Load shifting	Charge your Fleet and Electrify your Fleet
HVAC Systems - Residential	187	NA	Common in homes and light commercial; time- flexible loads	Temperature setpoint shifting, demand response	Electrify Your Home
HPWH	1000	NA	Common in homes and light commercial; time- flexible loads	Temperature setpoint shifting, demand response	Electrify Your Home

## **6.0 CONTRACT TERM**

The term of the services requested is anticipated to be a period of five (5) years, with the potential option to extend, subject to an additional written amendment. 3CE is not required to state a reason if 3CE chooses not to renew the contract.

If the final service AGREEMENT awarded pursuant to this RFP includes options for renewal or extension, the CONTRACTOR must commence negotiations for any desired rate changes a minimum of ninety days (90) prior to the expiration of the AGREEMENT. Both parties shall agree upon rate extension(s) or changes in writing.

The AGREEMENT shall contain a clause that provides that 3CE reserves the right to cancel the AGREEMENT, or any extension of the AGREEMENT, without cause, with a thirty-day (30) written notice, or immediately with cause.

## 7.0 QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

Qualified CONTRACTORS must demonstrate the technical expertise, operational experience, and organizational capacity necessary to design, implement, and support a DERMS that meets the objectives outlined in this RFP. Proposals must clearly show how the CONTRACTOR meets the following minimum qualifications:

## 7.1 Organizational and Technical Experience

- Demonstrated experience designing, deploying, and operating DERMS platforms or comparable distributed energy coordination systems at the utility, aggregator, or community choice aggregator (CCA) level.
- Proven ability to integrate and manage a wide range of distributed energy resources (e.g., batteries, EV chargers, HVAC systems, smart thermostats, industrial loads) across customer classes.
- Demonstrated ability to realize Resource Adequacy (RA) value, including aggregation, qualification, and verification of DERs for participation in applicable RA markets.
- Experience supporting utility-directed or market-integrated demand flexibility, demand response, or load control programs.
- Financial stability and organizational capacity to support a multi-year deployment and partnership.
- Strong internal technical team or verified access to qualified subcontractors with domain expertise in DER integration, grid operations, software development, and cybersecurity.

#### 7.2 Platform Readiness

- Availability of a commercially deployed or production-ready DERMS platform with functionality aligned to the scope of this RFP.
- Ability to support near real-time dispatch, event scheduling, customer segmentation, enrollment management, and system visibility.
- Scalable architecture capable of growing to support 205 MW or more of flexible load across multiple DER types and customer segments.
- Secure system design, including data encryption, access control, and audit logging.

#### 7.3 Team and Project Management

- Qualified project team with expertise in system integration, distributed energy resources, utility programs, customer engagement, and cybersecurity.
- Defined roles and responsibilities for implementation, ongoing support, and account management.
- Experience managing multi-stakeholder projects involving utilities, aggregators, vendors, and regulators.

## 7.4 Customer and Community Engagement

- Experience implementing customer-facing technology platforms that support enrollment, communication, and opt-in/out functionality.
- Demonstrated ability to design and execute outreach strategies tailored to residential, commercial, and industrial customers, including those in disadvantaged or rural communities.
- Ability to support multilingual communication and accessibility best practices, where applicable.

#### 7.5 References and Past Performance

- At least three (3) references from utilities, CCAs, or aggregators where similar DERMS or DER integration projects have been implemented.
- Documentation of past project outcomes, including measurable performance data (e.g., MW/MWh managed, event success rate, customer retention).
- Evidence of innovation, flexibility, and responsiveness in multi-stakeholder environments.

#### 7.6 OEM and TPO Partnerships

- Demonstrated history of successful integrations with multiple OEMs and Third-Party Operators (TPOs).
- Provide evidence of existing agreements with OEMs and TPOs that enable direct control of DER assets.

 Describe strategies for enabling integration and control of DERs from OEMs/TPOs without existing agreements.

## 7.7 Project Schedule

- A detailed project schedule outlining major tasks, milestones, and deliverables across the four Scopes of Work.
- Schedule must clearly identify timelines for achieving the 2026 baseline (5 MW) and 2030 target (25 MW), including phased integration of DERs.
- Schedule shall be submitted in a Gantt chart or equivalent format with dependencies and critical path clearly identified.

## 7.8 Regulatory Compliance

CONTRACTOR is required to ensure that all DERMS software, hardware, integration services, and associated costs must, at minimum, meet the specifications for the State of California, applicable utility interconnection standards, IEEE power system standards, NERC CIP cybersecurity requirements, and all relevant energy regulatory frameworks as applicable to distributed energy resource management systems.

## 7.9 Insurance Requirements

Insurance coverage must be obtained through carriers licensed and authorized to conduct business within California and maintain good standing with state regulatory authorities. Within thirty (30) calendar days following contract award notification and before any work commences, the successful CONTRACTOR must secure and continuously maintain the minimum insurance requirements specified in the executed agreement. Such coverage shall remain active and enforceable for the complete contract term.

CONTRACTOR must include proof of current insurance or evidence of insurability with their submission. Where existing policies do not satisfy the stated requirements, CONTRACTOR shall provide a written commitment from their insurance carrier confirming the ability to obtain compliant coverage upon contract execution. Proposals lacking sufficient insurance documentation or insurability verification may be deemed non-responsive and subject to rejection.

## 8.0 PROPOSAL PACKAGE REQUIREMENTS

**CONTENT AND LAYOUT:** CONTRACTOR should provide the information as requested and as applicable to the proposed goods and services. The proposal package shall be organized as per the table below; headings and section numbering utilized in the proposal package shall be the same as those identified in the table. Proposal packages shall include, at a minimum, but not limited to, the following information in the format indicated:

Proposal Package Layout: Organize and Number Sections as Follows:				
Section 1 COVER LETTER (INCLUDING CONTACT INFO)				
Section 1	TABLE OF CONTENTS			
Section 2	LICENSING & QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS			
Section 3	PROJECT EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES			
Section 4	PROPOSED SCOPE-OF-WORK			
Section 5	ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS			
Section 6	FEE SCHEDULE			
Section 7	EXCEPTIONS			
Section 8	APPENDIX			

## <u>Section 1 – Cover Letter & Table of Contents Requirements</u>

**Cover Letter:** All proposals must be accompanied by a cover letter not exceeding two pages and should provide firm information and contact information as follows:

**Contact Info:** The name, address, telephone number, and email address of REPONDENT'S primary contact person during the solicitation process through topotential contract award.

**Firm Info:** Description of the type of organization (e.g., corporation, partnership, including joint venture teams and subcontractors) and how many years it's been in existence. If applicable, indicate Small and Local Vendor status (see Section 12 of this RFP).

**Table of Contents:** include section headers for each section and page numbers

#### Section 2 - Licensing & Qualification Requirements

CONTRACTOR must acknowledge that it meets the qualifications required as set forth in Section 7.0 herein; indicating all licenses, degrees and certifications held. Copies of License, Degree, and/or Certificates must be included in this section.

## Section 3 - Project Experience & References

**Key Staff Persons:** CONTRACTOR shall identify all key staff and subcontractors and include their titles, qualifications, and a summary of their experience as it is relevant to the services identified herein.

**Experience & References:** The CONTRACTOR shall provide descriptions of up to three (3) recent projects or contracts that demonstrate experience delivering services comparable to the scope of work outlined in this RFP. Each project should highlight the DERMS or demand flexibility platform deployed, the customer types served, DER asset types integrated, and key outcomes achieved (e.g., MW/MWh enrolled, event success rates, customer retention).

For each project, include the following:

- Project name and location
- Contracting organization and project duration
- Scope of services provided
- Key technologies and DER types supported
- Outcomes or performance metrics
- Role of the CONTRACTOR and any subcontractors

If available, please also include an example of a customer- or site-level DER integration or assessment performed as part of the project.

For reference purposes, include the name, title, phone number, and email address of a primary point of contact for each project. 3CE may contact references as part of the evaluation process.

## <u>Section 4 – Proposed Scope of Work</u>

The CONTRACTOR shall include the proposed SCOPE OF WORK as outlined in Section 5.0 of this RFP. The submission shall include:

- **Approach:** Clear strategy for delivering the DERMS platform, phasing in existing programs, contributing CONTRACTOR capacity, and enabling third-party programs.
- Timeline & Milestones: Table or Gantt chart showing key activities and deliverables across Scopes 1–4, including the 2026 baseline (5 MW) and 2030 target (25 MW).
- **Activities:** Summary of critical tasks (e.g., platform build, customer enrollment, DER integration, performance validation, M&V for RA-eligible LMC).
- **Staffing:** Identification of key project staff and roles.
- Capacity Plan: Proposed approach to bringing DER capacity online, including CONTRACTOR-supplied and third-party resources.

## <u>Section 5 – ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS</u>

The CONTRACTOR shall include responses to all of the following questions as outlined in section. The ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS should be clearly answered, with the question indicated.

A. What are the core features and functions of your DERMS platform interface for both utility users and customers? Please provide example screenshots or a demo link and describe how the platform adjusts to different types of users (e.g., program administrator, residential customer, large commercial facility).

- B. What information does your DER performance report or event summary include? Please attach a sample performance report or customer-facing dispatch/event summary report that illustrates what participants and program staff will see.
- C. What marketing, outreach, or customer education experience does your team have in promoting participation in load flexibility, DER enrollment, or demand response programs? Please describe strategies used to engage a range of customers, including those unfamiliar with energy technologies.
- D. In what ways can 3CE branding, messaging, or program content be incorporated into your platform interface, customer reports, or communication workflows?
- E. Is the customer-facing platform available in languages other than English? If so, please specify which languages are supported.
- F. Where and how can 3CE's branding (logo, messaging, and program content) be incorporated into the customer-facing platform and into the final reports provided to customers?
- G. Do you intend to use any subcontractors in delivering the proposed solution? If yes, please list their names, roles, and responsibilities, and describe how you will manage subcontractor performance to ensure alignment with 3CE expectations and contractual requirements.
- H. Will your proposed solution utilize Artificial Intelligence (AI) or Machine Learning (ML) technologies? If so, please describe:
  - The specific AI/ML applications (e.g., forecasting, load optimization, anomaly detection, customer engagement).
  - How these technologies will be applied to support DERMS functionality, improve program outcomes, and enhance customer experience.
  - Any safeguards in place to ensure accuracy, transparency, cybersecurity, and compliance with regulatory requirements.
- 3CE prefers a customer-facing interface that can be co-branded or fully branded under 3CE to ensure seamless customer experience and maintain 3CE's ownership of the customer relationship and data. CONTRACTORS should identify available options, associated costs, and any technical limitations related to branding.
- J. 3CE intends to maintain control over customer-facing branding and messaging. CONTRACTORS should describe their experience supporting marketing and customer enrollment, including options for 3CE-led, vendor-led, or hybrid outreach, along with associated costs and data-sharing protocols.
- K. In addition to or as an alternative to the DERMS platform requirements, does your company have the capability to provide financing and development services for distributed energy resource installations within the 3CE service territory? Please describe your financing models and development approach.
- L. Does your company have experience bidding distributed energy resources into CAISO markets? Please describe your track record, including resource types (e.g., demand

- response, energy storage, virtual power plants), market products participated in (energy, ancillary services, capacity, supply side RA), and key performance outcomes.
- M. Does your company have experience working with installers and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) on distributed energy resource design and implementation? Please describe your approach to managing these partnerships, including project coordination, technical integration, and quality assurance processes.

#### **Section 6 - FEE SCHEDULE**

- A. The CONTRACTOR shall provide a detailed and transparent fee schedule using the structure in Appendix A Pricing Sheet. Proposals must clearly identify all applicable costs, including one-time setup, integration, software licensing, support services, and capacity-based compensation.
  - Where applicable, 3CE prefers pay-for-performance pricing structures, especially for capacity delivery and event-based load reduction. CONTRACTORS are encouraged to propose pricing models that align with measurable grid value, such as dispatch success, verified load impact, or customer retention.
- B. The CONTRACTOR shall distinguish between Market-Integrated Capacity (e.g., eligible for CAISO markets, Resource Adequacy) and Load-Modifying Capacity (e.g., used to shape demand profiles, shift TOU usage, or reduce local peaks).
  - Pay-for-performance models tied to actual capacity delivered or load reductions during dispatch events are strongly encouraged.
- C. CONTRACTOR may propose optional compensation models tied to:
  - Dispatch event success rates
  - Customer enrollment or retention thresholds
  - Verified emissions reductions
  - High accuracy forecasting or fast response times

3CE is open to innovative compensation mechanisms that align vendor incentives with customer value and grid performance.

## <u>Section 7 – Measurement and Verification (M&V) Guidelines</u>

To ensure transparency and alignment with 3CE's goals, all capacity- or performance-based compensation must be supported by clear and auditable measurement and verification methods.

- A. **General M&V Requirements**: CONTRACTOR shall describe the M&V approach used to quantify:
  - o Load reduction (kW) or energy shift (kWh) during dispatch events
  - Baseline methodology (e.g., historical average, customer-specific modeling, normalized weather data)
  - Event attribution and adjustment (e.g., opt-outs, failed dispatches)
  - Telemetry or data granularity (e.g., 5-minute, 15-minute intervals)
  - Verification of customer participation or enrollment status

M&V methodologies must align with industry best practices and should be sufficient to support program evaluation, settlement (if applicable), and reporting to regulatory bodies.

- B. **Requirements for Market-Integrated Resources:** For capacity eligible for Resource Adequacy (RA), CAISO, or other grid services:
  - CONTRACTOR must support telemetry, metering, and communications requirements as defined by applicable market rules.
  - Bids must specify telemetry source (e.g., SCADA, API, AMI data) and latency.
  - o Dispatch performance must be traceable to resource availability and bid status.
- C. **Requirements for Load-Modifying Capacity:** For resources used for internal peak management, TOU load shaping, or emissions shifting:
  - o Baseline models must account for seasonality, customer type, and time of day.
  - M&V should validate responsiveness to dispatch signals and total impact per event.
  - Optional pre-/post-event surveys or feedback loops may be included for behavioral components.

#### Section 8 - EXCEPTIONS

Submit all exceptions to this solicitation on separate pages and clearly identify the top of each page with "EXCEPTION TO CENTRAL COAST COMMUNITY ENERGY SOLICITATION." Each Exception shall reference the RFP page number and section number, as appropriate.

CONTRACTOR should note that the submittal of an Exception does not obligate 3CE to revise the terms of the RFP or AGREEMENT. Items not excepted will not be open to later negotiation.

## **Section 9- APPENDIX**

- A. CONTRACTOR may provide any additional information that it believes to be applicable to this proposal package and include such information in an Appendix section.
  - a. Provide, current and audited Financial statements
  - b. Provide a current client list

CONFIDENTIAL OR PROPRIETARY CONTENT: Any page of the proposal package that is deemed by CONTRACTOR to be a trade secret by the CONTRACTOR shall be clearly marked "CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION" or "PROPRIETARY INFORMATION" at the top of the page. CONTRACTOR acknowledges that any other method of marking documents as proprietary will be assumed to be residual and disregarded. CONTRACTOR is encouraged to use restraint in marking documents "confidential" or "proprietary" and should be prepared to provide legal authority for any such designation upon request.

## 9.0 SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS & CONDITIONS

- 8.1 <u>Electronic Submission.</u> All proposals must be submitted electronically through email form with the appropriate attached documents combined into a single PDF document not to exceed 150 MB to the following email address: <a href="mailto:epRFP@3ce.org">epRFP@3ce.org</a>. CONTRACTOR should include the title of this solicitation and the organization's name in the email's subject line.
- 8.2 Proposal information not properly addressed to and not timely received by the Primary Contact will be considered undelivered. Proposals failing to provide complete responses as required may be considered non-conforming. CONTRACTOR should not send, and 3CE will not accept, paper copies of electronic proposals.
- 8.3 Acceptance. Proposals are subject to acceptance at any time within 90 days after opening. Central Coast Community Energy reserves the right to reject all proposal packages, or part of any proposal package, to postpone the scheduled deadline date(s), to make an award in its own best interest, and to waive any informalities or technicalities that do not significantly affect or alter the substance of an otherwise responsive proposal package and that would not affect a CONTRACTOR'S ability to perform the work adequately as specified.
- 8.4 Ownership: All submittals in response to this solicitation become the property of 3CE.
- 8.5 <u>Public Disclosure:</u> All documents under this solicitation process are subject to public disclosure per the California Public Records Act (California Government Code Section §7920.000 et. seq. Public disclosure may be made regardless of whether the RFP Materials are marked "confidential," "proprietary," "Copyright ©" or otherwise, and regardless of any statement purporting to limit the 3CE's right to disclose information or requiring 3CE to inform or obtain the consent of the applicant prior to the disclosure of the RFP Materials. Submission of any proposal or communication pursuant to the RFP constitutes acknowledgment and consent by the applicant to the potential public disclosure of its RFP Materials.

- 8.6 <u>Financial Responsibility:</u> 3CE accepts no financial responsibility for any costs incurred by a proposal in responding to this RFP.
- 8.7 <u>Compliance:</u> Proposal packages that do not follow the format, content, and submittal requirements as described herein, or fail to provide the required documentation, may receive lower evaluation scores or be deemed non-responsive.
- 8.8 <u>CAL-OSHA</u>: The items proposed shall conform to all applicable requirements of the California Occupational Safety and Health Administration Act of 1973 (CAL-OSHA).
- 8.9 <u>Cybersecurity and Data Compliance:</u> The CONTRACTOR shall ensure that the DERMS platform and all associated services comply with applicable cybersecurity, data privacy, and data protection requirements. At a minimum, the system shall:
  - Adhere to State of California data privacy laws, including the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA).
  - Comply with NERC Critical Infrastructure Protection (CIP) standards where applicable.
  - Incorporate best practices for data encryption, access control, and user authentication.
  - Provide audit logs and monitoring tools to detect and respond to unauthorized access or anomalous activity.
  - Ensure that customer data is collected, stored, and transmitted securely, with no use or sharing beyond authorized program purposes.
- 8.10 <u>Expenses:</u> Expenses incurred in the preparation of this proposal, or any other action responding to this RFP shall be the sole responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.
- 8.11 <u>Time:</u> Time when stated as a number of days shall include Sundays and Saturdays, excluding legal holidays.

## **10.0 SELECTION & SCORING CRITERIA**

- 9.1 The selection of CONTRACTOR and subsequent contract award(s) will be based on the criteria contained in this RFP, as demonstrated in the submitted proposal. CONTRACTOR should submit information sufficient for 3CE to easily evaluate proposals with respect to the selection criteria. The absence of required information may cause the Proposal to be deemed non-responsive and may be cause for rejection.
- 9.2 The Scoring criteria include the following: (100 points total).

SCORING CRITERIA	MAXIMUM POSSIBLE SCORE
Qualifications	20
Experience	20
Pricing	30
Demonstrated capacity to fulfill the Scope of Work as outlined	25
Local Preference	5
TOTAL	100

- 9.3 AGREEMENT award(s) will not be based on cost alone.
- 9.4 The award(s) resulting from this RFP will be made to the CONTRACTOR(S) that submit(s) a response that, in the sole opinion of Central Coast Community Energy, best serves the overall interest of Central Coast Community Energy.
- 9.5 The award made from this RFP may be subject to approval by Central Coast Community Energy Operations Board of Directors or Policy Board of Directors.

#### 11.0 FEE SCHEDULE

- 11.1 CONTRACTOR shall submit a cost sheet and an all-inclusive fee schedule for an initial one(1) year term of the AGREEMENT. Please refer to the Section 8.0 Proposal Package
  Requirements subsection 6 FEE SCHEDULE for more details on items to include. Applicable
  tax and travel expenses should be billed and shown as a separate line item.
- 11.2 CONTRACTOR prices and terms stated in the proposal package shall be effective from the date the proposal is submitted to the day any AGREEMENT is awarded and through the initial term of any AGREEMENT.
- 11.3 Prior to the start of the work, 3CE and CONTRACTOR(S) will mutually agree upon the payment terms.
  - 11.3.1 3CE will provide a defined scope.
  - 11.3.2 Pricing may include an hourly rate and audit services flat fee, based upon the direction of 3CE staff.
  - 11.3.3 Prices quoted for Services must remain in effect for a minimum of sixty (60) days of receipt by 3CE.
- 11.4 Proposals should include any discounts and/or incentives offered.

## 12.0 SMALL AND LOCAL PREFERENCE

- 12.1 3CE desires, whenever possible, to contract with qualified small and local vendors to provide goods and services to the agency. Each local CONTRACTOR providing goods, supplies, or services funded in whole or in part by 3CE funds, or funds which 3CE expends or administers, shall be eligible for local preference points or percentages as provided in this section.
- 12.2 3CE's Small and Local Preference Policy ("Policy") establishes a preference for qualified small, local, and diverse businesses in non-power services contract opportunities. This policy requires 3CE to directly identify and solicit small, local, and diverse businesses; reduce barriers to contracting with small, local, and diverse businesses; and incentivize small, local, and diverse businesses to engage with 3CE's contracting process. To view 3CE's Local Preference Policy, in its entirety, use the following link: <a href="Central Coast Community Energy Local Preference Policy">Central Coast Community Energy Local Preference Policy</a>.
- 12.3 Any vendor seeking to be recognized as a small, local, and diverse business by 3CE shall be required to certify they meet the definition of small and local as set out in the Policy, and to register as a small, local, and diverse business with 3CE. Registering through the vendor registry enables 3CE to track the effectiveness of the Policy and allow 3CE to provide future notifications to its small, local, and diverse businesses concerning other bidding opportunities. To access the 3CE Local Vendor Registration Form, use the following link: Local Vendor Registry.

- 12.4 When 3CE evaluates the responses to a solicitation for goods or services, where best value is the determining basis for the contract award, a five (5) points preference will be applied to the scoring evaluation for qualified small, local, and diverse businesses.
- 12.5 When 3CE evaluates the responses to a solicitation for goods or services, where lowest price, is the determining basis for the contract award, a five percent (5%) preference will be subtracted from the bid price of qualified small, local, and diverse businesses. If application of the five percent (5%) preference results in a qualified small, local, and diverse business' bid being lower than all other bids, the contract shall be awarded to the qualified small, local, and diverse business at that vendor's bid price.
- 12.6 Whenever a responsive qualified small, local, and diverse businesses and a responsive non-small, non-local business have both submitted matching lowest responsive bids, the qualified small, local, and diverse business shall be awarded the contract.
- 12.7 When a contract requires subcontractors or subconsultants, the selected CONTRACTOR shall solicit proposals from qualified small, local, and diverse businesses whenever possible. No contract awarded to a small and local business shall be assigned or subcontracted in any manner that permits more than fifty percent (50%) or more of the dollar value of the contract to be performed by an entity that is not a small local business.

## **13.0 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS**

## 13.1 Evidence of Coverage:

- 13.1.1 Prior to commencement of an AGREEMENT with 3CE, CONTRACTOR shall provide a "Certificate of Insurance" certifying that coverage as required herein has been obtained. Individual endorsements executed by the insurance carrier shall accompany the certificate. In addition, the CONTRACTOR upon request shall provide a certified copy of the policy or policies. This verification of coverage shall be sent to 3CE.
- 13.1.2 This verification of coverage shall be sent to 3CE, unless otherwise directed. CONTRACTOR shall <u>not</u> receive a "Notice to Proceed" with the work under any AGREEMENT until it has obtained all insurance required and such insurance has been approved by 3CE. This approval of insurance shall neither relieve nor decrease the liability of CONTRACTOR.
- 13.2 Qualifying Insurers: All coverages, except surety, shall be issued by companies whichhold a current policy holder's alphabetic and financial size category rating of not less than A- VII, according to the current Best's Key Rating Guide or a company of equal financial stability that is approved by 3CE.

#### 13.3 Insurance Coverage Requirements:

- 13.3.1 Without limiting CONTRACTOR'S duty to indemnify, CONTRACTOR shall maintain in effect throughout the term of this AGREEMENT a policy or policies of insurance with the following minimum limits of liability:
  - (i) Commercial General Liability Insurance, including but not limited to premises and operations, including coverage for Bodily Injury and Property Damage, Personal Injury, Contractual Liability, Broad form Property Damage, Independent CONTRACTORS, Products and Completed Operations, and cross-liability with a combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage of not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence, and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate. (Note: any proposed modifications to these general liability insurance requirements shall be attached as an Exhibit hereto, and the section(s) above that are proposed as not applicable shall be lined out in red. All proposed modifications are subject to 3CE approval.)
  - (ii) <u>Cyber Liability Insurance</u>, covering information security and privacy liability, including privacy notification costs, in the amount of no less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate.
  - (iii) Automobile Insurance Threshold:

<u>Business Automobile Liability Insurance</u>, covering all motor vehicles, including owned, leased, non-owned, and hired vehicles, used in providing services under this AGREEMENT, with a combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage of not less than \$500,000 per occurrence.

(Note: any proposed modifications to these auto insurance requirements shall be attached as an Exhibit hereto, and the section(s) above that are proposed as not applicable shall be linedout in red. All proposed modifications are subject to 3CE approval.)

- (iv) <u>Workers' Compensation Insurance</u>, if CONTRACTOR employs others in the performance of this AGREEMENT, in accordance with California Labor Code section 3700 and with Employer's Liability limits not less than \$1,000,000 each person, \$1,000,000 each accident and \$1,000,000 each disease.
  - (Note: any proposed modifications to these workers' compensation insurance requirements shall be attached as an Exhibit hereto, and the section(s) above that are proposed as not applicable shall be lined out in red. All proposed modifications are subject to 3CE approval.)
- (v) Professional liability insurance, if required for the professional services being provided, (e.g., those persons authorized by a license to engage in a business or profession regulated by the California Business and Professions Code), in the amount of not less than \$1,000,000 per claim and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate, to cover liability for malpractice or errors or omissions made in the course of rendering professional services. If professional liability insurance is written on a "claims-made" basis rather than an occurrence basis, the CONTRACTOR shall, upon the expiration or earlier termination of this AGREEMENT, obtain extended reporting

coverage ("tail coverage") with the same liability limits. Any such tail coverage shall continue for at least three years following the expiration or earlier termination of this AGREEMENT.

(vi) <u>Sexual Misconduct Insurance</u> is required if CONTRACTOR provides services to persons with disabilities, or minors, with minimum coverage limits of \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 aggregate. Such coverage shall cover virtual or online incidents and/or occurrences.

(Note: any proposed modifications to these insurance requirements shall be attached as an Exhibit hereto, and the section(s) above that are proposed as not applicable shall be lined out in red. All proposed modifications are subject to 3CE approval.

## 13.4 Other Insurance Requirements:

- 13.4.1 Unless otherwise specified by this AGREEMENT, all such insurance shall be written on an occurrence basis, or, if the policy is not written on an occurrence basis, such policy with the coverage required herein shall continue in effect for a period of three years following the date CONTRACTOR completes its performance of services under this Agreement.
- 13.4.2 Commercial general liability and automobile liability policies shall provide an endorsement naming 3CE, its Directors, Board members, officers, agents, and employees as Additional Insureds with respect to liability arising out of the CONTRACTOR'S work, including ongoing and completed operations, and shall further provide that such insurance is primary insurance to any insurance or self-insurance maintained by 3CE and that the insurance of the Additional Insureds shall not be called upon to contribute to a loss covered by the CONTRACTOR'S insurance.
- 13.4.3 CONTRACTOR shall file a new or amended certificate of insurance within five calendar days after any change is made in any insurance policy, which would alter the information on the certificate then on file. Acceptance or approval of insurance shall in no way modify or change the indemnification clause in an AGREEMENT, which shall continue in full force and effect.
- 13.4.4 CONTRACTOR shall always during the term of an AGREEMENT maintain in force the insurance coverage required under an AGREEMENT and shall send, without demand by 3CE, annual certificates to 3CE. If the certificate is not received by the expiration date, CONTRACTOR shall have five calendar days to send in the certificate, evidencing no lapse in coverage during the interim. Failure by CONTRACTOR to maintain such insurance is a default of an AGREEMENT, which entitles 3CE, at its sole discretion, to terminate an AGREEMENT immediately.
- 13.4.5 Consultant agrees to include within their subcontract(s) with any and all subcontractors the same requirements and provisions of this Agreement, including the indemnity and insurance requirements, to the extent they apply to the scope of the subcontractor's work. Subcontractors hired by CONTRACTOR shall agree to be bound to CONTRACTOR and 3CE in the same manner and to the same extent as CONTRACTOR is bound to 3CE under this Agreement. Subcontractors shall agree to

include these same provisions within any sub-subcontract. CONTRACTOR shall provide a copy of the Indemnity and Insurance provisions of this Agreement to any subcontractor. CONTRACTOR shall require all subcontractors to provide valid certificates of insurance and the required endorsements prior to commencement of any work and will provide proof of compliance to 3CE.

## **14.0 RESERVATION OF RIGHTS**

- 14.1 <u>No Guaranteed Value:</u> 3CE does not guarantee a minimum or maximum dollar value for any AGREEMENT or AGREEMENTS resulting from this solicitation.
- 14.2 <u>Board Approval:</u> The award(s) made from this solicitation may be subject to approval by Central Coast Community Energy Operations Board.
- 14.3 <u>Interview:</u> 3CE reserves the right to interview the selected CONTRACTOR before a contract is awarded. The costs of attending any interview are the CONTRACTOR'S responsibility.
- 14.4 <u>Incurred Costs:</u> 3CE is not liable for any cost incurred by CONTRACTOR in response to this solicitation.
- 14.5 <u>Notification:</u> All CONTRACTORS who have submitted a Proposal Package will be notified of the final decision as soon as it has been determined.
- 14.6 <u>In 3CE's Best Interest:</u> The award(s) resulting from this solicitation will be made to the CONTRACTOR that submit(s) a response that, in the sole opinion of 3CE, best serves the overall interest of 3CE.
- 14.7 <u>Multiple Award(s)</u>: 3CE has the option to award a portion or portions of this contract to multiple successful CONTRACTORS at the sole discretion of and benefit to 3CE.

## 15.0 SIMULTANEOUS CONTRACT NEGOTIATION

3CE will pursue contract negotiations with the CONTRACTOR(S) who submit(s) the best Proposal or is deemed the most qualified in the sole opinion of 3CE, and which is in accordance with the criteria as described within this solicitation. Suppose the contract negotiations are unsuccessful, in the opinion of 3CE. In that case, 3CE may pursue contract negotiations with the entity that submitted a Proposal which 3CE deems to be the next best qualified to provide the services, or 3CE may issue a new solicitation, or take any other action which it deems to be in its best interest.

## **16.0 AGREEMENT TO TERMS AND CONDITIONS**

CONTRACTOR selected through the solicitation process will be expected to execute a formal AGREEMENT with 3CE for the provision of the requested service. The AGREEMENT shall be written by 3CE in a standard format approved by 3CE's General Counsel.

Submission of a bid/proposal will be interpreted to mean CONTRACTOR HAS AGREED TO ALL THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS set forth in the pages of this solicitation and the standard provisions included in the **STANDARD SERVICES AGREEMENT** Section herein.

3CE <u>may</u> but is not required to consider including language from the CONTRACTOR'S proposed AGREEMENT, and any such submission shall be included in the EXCEPTIONS section of CONTRACTOR'S proposal.

## 17.0 CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND COLLUSION

- 17.1 CONTRACTOR shall not conspire, attempt to conspire, or commit any other act of collusion with any other interested party for the purpose of secretly, or otherwise, establishing an understanding regarding rates or conditions to the solicitation that would bring about any unfair conditions.
- 17.2 CONTRACTOR shall disclose the name of any officer, director, or agent who is also an officer, board member or employee of 3CE. Further, CONTRACTOR shall disclose the name of any 3CE officer, board member or officer who owns, directly, or indirectly, an interest in 5% or more of the CONTRACTOR's business or any of its branches or affiliates.

## 18.0 RIGHTS TO PERTINENT MATERIALS AND PUBLIC RECORDS ACT

All responses, inquiries, and correspondence related to this solicitation and all reports, charts, displays, schedules, exhibits, and other documentation produced by the CONTRACTOR that are submitted as part of the submittal will become the property of Central Coast Community Energy when received by Central Coast Community Energy and may be considered public information under applicable law. Any proprietaryinformation in the submittal must be identified as such and marked "CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION" or "PROPRIETARY INFORMATION", in strict conformity with the specificrequirements set forth in section 9 above. Central Coast Community Energy will not disclose proprietary information to the public, unless required by law; however, Central Coast Community Energy cannot guarantee that such information will be held confidential. As a California government entity, 3CE is subject to the California Public Records Act and other public transparency laws and, as such, cannot guarantee the confidentiality of information marked confidential or proprietary. 3CE will respond to requests for disclosure of records related to this solicitation in accordance with applicable law on disclosure requirements and exemptions to disclosure.

#### **19.0 PIGGYBACK CLAUSE**

CONTRACTOR shall indicate in their fee schedule if CONTRACTOR agrees to extend the same prices, terms, and conditions of their proposal to other public agencies that have delivery locations within the State of California limits. CONTRACTOR'S response to this question will not be considered in award of the Agreement resulting from this solicitation. If and when CONTRACTOR extends the prices, terms, and conditions of their proposal to other public agencies, any resulting agreement shall be between CONTRACTOR and the other public agencies and 3CE shall bear no responsibility or liability for any agreements between CONTRACTOR and the other public agencies.

## **20.0 SAMPLE AGREEMENT SECTION**

Awardee will be required to enter into a contract with 3CE using 3CE STANDARD SERVICE AGREEMENT and execute a Non-Disclosure Agreement. All terms and conditions (which are hereby incorporated by reference as though set forth entirely herein) may be viewed as a separate attachment accompanying this RFP, found on the 3CE Solicitations Webpage. Modifications of the contract terms may be proposed by the applicant for consideration by 3CE but are not guaranteed to be accepted. Rejection of the final terms from 3CE may be grounds for disqualification.

-- End of Sample Agreement Section -

#### **CENTRAL COAST COMMUNITY ENERGY**

#### **STANDARD SERVICES AGREEMENT**

This **Agreement** is made by and between CENTRAL COAST COMMUNITY ENERGY ("3CE") and [Enter Business/Vendor Name] (hereinafter "CONTRACTOR"), a [Business Type] business located at [Business Address]. 3CE and CONTRACTOR may be individually referred to herein as "Party" or collectively as "Parties."

In consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Parties agree as follows:

#### 1. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

1.1. 3CE hereby engages CONTRACTOR to perform, and CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to perform, the services described in **Exhibit A** in conformity with the terms of this Agreement. The goods and/or services are generally described as: xxxxx

#### 2. PAYMENT PROVISIONS

2.1. 3CE shall pay the CONTRACTOR in accordance with the payment provisions set forth in **Exhibit**B, subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement. The total amount payable by 3CE to CONTRACTOR under this Agreement shall not exceed the sum of \$

#### 3. TERM OF AGREEMENT

- 3.1. The term of this Agreement is from [Start Date] until [End Date] unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. This Agreement is of no force or effect until signed by both the CONTRACTOR and 3CE, with 3CE's execution to be last in time. CONTRACTOR may not commence work under this Agreement before 3CE signs this Agreement.
- 3.2. 3CE reserves the right to cancel this Agreement, or any extension of this Agreement, without cause with thirty (30) days written notice, or with cause immediately.

## 4. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

- 4.1. The following attached exhibits are incorporated herein by reference and constitute a part of this Agreement:
  - 4.1.1.Exhibit A: Scope of Services
  - 4.1.2. Exhibit B: Payment Terms
  - 4.1.3. Exhibit C: Procedures for Unauthorized Release of Covered Information

7/7/2025 1 Contract Number: \_\_\_\_\_\_

#### 5. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

- 5.1. CONTRACTOR warrants that CONTRACTOR and CONTRACTOR's agents, employees and subcontractors performing services under this Agreement are specially trained, experienced, competent, and appropriately licensed to perform the work and deliver the services required under this Agreement and are not employees of 3CE or immediate family of an employee of 3CE.
- 5.2. CONTRACTOR and CONTRACTOR's agents, employees and subcontractors shall perform all work in a safe and skillful manner and in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. All work performed under this Agreement that is required by law to be performed or supervised by licensed personnel shall be performed in accordance with such licensing requirements.
- 5.3. CONTRACTOR shall furnish, at its own expense, all materials, equipment, and personnel necessary to carry out the terms of this Agreement, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall not use 3CE premises, property (including equipment, instruments, or supplies) or personnel for any purpose other than in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

#### 6. PAYMENT CONDITIONS

- 6.1. Prices shall remain firm for the initial term of the Agreement and, thereafter, may be adjusted annually as provided herein. 3CE does not guarantee any minimum or maximum amount of dollars to be spent under this Agreement.
- 6.2. Negotiations for rate changes shall be commenced, by CONTRACTOR, a minimum of ninety days (90) prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Rate changes are not binding unless mutually agreed upon in writing by 3CE and the CONTRACTOR.
- 6.3. Invoices shall be submitted monthly on a form acceptable to 3CE and provide sufficient detail, as determined by 3CE, of services rendered for the invoiced period.
- 6.4. 3CE shall certify the invoice for payment in either the amount requested, or in such other amount as 3CE determines is due in conformity with this Agreement. Invoices shall be certified and paid within 45 days of submission to 3CE.

## 7. TERMINATION

- 7.1. During the term of this Agreement, 3CE may terminate the Agreement for any reason by giving written notice of termination to the CONTRACTOR at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of termination. Such notice shall set forth the effective date of termination. In the event of such termination, the amount payable under this Agreement shall be reduced in proportion to the services provided prior to the date of termination.
- 7.2. 3CE may cancel and terminate this Agreement for good cause effective immediately upon written notice to CONTRACTOR. "Good cause" includes the failure of CONTRACTOR to perform

7/7/2025	2	Contract Number:

the required services at the time and in the manner provided under this Agreement. If 3CE terminates this Agreement for good cause, 3CE may be relieved of the payment of any consideration to CONTRACTOR, and 3CE may proceed with the work in any manner, which 3CE deems proper. The cost to 3CE shall be deducted from any sum due the CONTRACTOR under this Agreement.

#### 8. INDEMNIFICATION

- 8.1. CONTRACTOR shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 3CE, its Directors, Board members, officers, agents and employees from any claim, liability, loss, injury or damage arising out of, or in connection with, performance of this Agreement by CONTRACTOR and/or its agents, employees or sub-contractors, excepting only loss, injury or damage caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of personnel employed by 3CE. It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement to provide the broadest possible coverage for 3CE. The CONTRACTOR shall reimburse 3CE for all costs, attorneys' fees, expenses and liabilities incurred with respect to any litigation in which the CONTRACTOR is obligated to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 3CE under this Agreement.
  - 8.1.1.The CONTRACTOR's selection of counsel to satisfy CONTRACTOR's defense and hold harmless obligation as set forth in section 8.1 above, shall be subject to review and approval by 3CE.
  - 8.1.2. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 3CE shall be entitled to participate fully in the defense of any claim or action.

#### 9. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

- 9.1. Prior to commencement of this Agreement, the CONTRACTOR shall provide a "Certificate of Insurance" certifying that coverage as required herein has been obtained. Individual endorsements executed by the insurance carrier shall accompany the certificate. In addition, the CONTRACTOR upon request shall provide a certified copy of the policy or policies. This verification of coverage shall be sent to 3CE.
- 9.2. Without limiting CONTRACTOR's duty to defend and indemnify, CONTRACTOR shall maintain in effect throughout the term of this Agreement a policy or policies of insurance with the following minimum limits of liability:
  - 9.2.1.1. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including but not limited to premises and operations, including coverage for Bodily Injury and Property Damage, Personal Injury, Contractual Liability, Broad form Property Damage, Independent Contractors, Products and Completed Operations, and cross-liability with a combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage of not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence, and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate.
  - 9.2.1.2. <u>Business Automobile Liability Insurance</u>, covering all motor vehicles, including owned, leased, non-owned, and hired vehicles, used in providing services under this

Agreement, with a combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage of not less than \$500,000 per occurrence.

- 9.2.1.3. Workers' Compensation Insurance, if CONTRACTOR employs others in the performance of this Agreement, in accordance with California Labor Code section 3700 and with Employer's Liability limits not less than \$1,000,000 each person, \$1,000,000 each accident and \$1,000,000 each disease.
- 9.2.1.4. **Professional Liability Insurance,** if required for the professional services being provided, (e.g., those persons authorized by a license to engage in a business or profession regulated by the California Business and Professions Code), in the amount of not less than \$1,000,000 per claim and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate, to cover liability for malpractice or errors or omissions made in the course of rendering professional services. If professional liability insurance is written on a "claims-made" basis rather than an occurrence basis, the CONTRACTOR shall, upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, obtain extended reporting coverage ("tail coverage") with the same liability limits. Any such tail coverage shall continue for at least three years following the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.
- 9.3. Unless otherwise specified by this Agreement, all such insurance shall be written on an occurrence basis, or, if the policy is not written on an occurrence basis, such policy with the coverage required herein shall continue in effect for a period of three years following the date CONTRACTOR completes its performance of services under this Agreement.
- 9.4. Commercial general liability and automobile liability policies shall provide an endorsement naming 3CE, its Directors, Board members, officers, agents, and employees as Additional Insureds with respect to liability arising out of the CONTRACTOR'S work, including ongoing and completed operations, and shall further provide that such insurance is primary insurance to any insurance or self-insurance maintained by 3CE and that the insurance of the Additional Insureds shall not be called upon to contribute to a loss covered by the CONTRACTOR'S insurance.

#### 10. RECORD AND CONFIDENTIALITY

10.1. CONTRACTOR and its officers, employees, agents, and subcontractors shall comply with any and all federal, state, and local laws, which provide for the confidentiality of records and other information. CONTRACTOR shall not disclose any confidential records or other confidential information received from 3CE or prepared in connection with the performance of this Agreement, unless 3CE specifically permits CONTRACTOR to disclose such records or information. CONTRACTOR shall promptly transmit to 3CE any and all requests for disclosure of any such confidential records or information. CONTRACTOR shall not use any confidential information gained by CONTRACTOR in the performance of this Agreement except for the sole purpose of carrying out CONTRACTOR's obligations under this Agreement.

7/7/2025	4	Contract Number:

- 10.1.1. Confidential Information specifically includes Covered Information (as defined in Exhibit C), including Protected Personal Information ("PPI") that identifies, relates to, describes, or is capable of being associated with, or could reasonably be linked, directly or indirectly, with a consumer, household, or customer account. All such Covered Information and PPI must fully be protected from disclosure as set forth in California Public Utility Commission Decision D.12-08-045. In the event of an unauthorized release of Covered Information and PPI, CONTRACTOR shall comply with Exhibit C, Procedures for Unauthorized Release of Covered Information.
- 10.2. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall return to 3CE any 3CE records which CONTRACTOR used or received from 3CE to perform services under this Agreement.
- 10.3. CONTRACTOR shall prepare, maintain, and preserve all reports and records that may be required by federal, state, and local rules and regulations related to services performed under this Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall maintain such records for a period of at least three years after receipt of final payment under this Agreement. If any litigation, claim, negotiation, audit exception, or other action relating to this Agreement is pending at the end of the three-year period, then CONTRACTOR shall retain said records until such action is resolved.
- 10.4. 3CE shall have the right to examine, monitor and audit all records, documents, conditions, and activities of the CONTRACTOR and its subcontractors related to services provided under this Agreement. Pursuant to Government Code section 8546.7, if this Agreement involves the expenditure of public funds in excess of \$10,000, the parties to this Agreement may be subject, at the request of 3CE or as part of any audit of 3CE, to the examination and audit of the State Auditor pertaining to matters connected with the performance of this Agreement for a period of three years after final payment under the Agreement.
- 10.5. 3CE shall have a royalty-free, exclusive and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, and use, and authorize others to do so, all original computer programs, writings, sound recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, and other works of similar nature produced in the course of or under this Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall not publish any such material without the prior written approval of 3CE.

#### 11. NON-DISCRIMINATION

11.1. During the performance of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR, and its subcontractors, shall not unlawfully discriminate against any person because of race, religious creed, color, sex, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, marital status, age (over 40), or sexual orientation, either in CONTRACTOR's employment practices or in the furnishing of services to recipients. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that the evaluation and treatment of its employees and applicants for employment and all persons receiving and requesting services are free of such discrimination. CONTRACTOR and any subcontractor shall, in the performance of this Agreement, fully comply with all federal, state, and local laws and

7/7/2025	5	Contract Number:
•		

regulations which prohibit discrimination. The provision of services primarily or exclusively to such target population as may be designated in this Agreement shall not be deemed to be prohibited discrimination.

## 12. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

12.1. In the performance of work, duties, and obligations under this Agreement, CONTRACTOR is at all times acting and performing as an independent contractor and not as an employee of 3CE. No offer or obligation of permanent employment with 3CE and CONTRACTOR shall not become entitled by virtue of this Agreement to receive from 3CE any form of employee benefits including but not limited to sick leave, vacation, retirement benefits, workers' compensation coverage, insurance or disability benefits. CONTRACTOR shall be solely liable for and obligated to pay directly all applicable taxes, including federal and state income taxes and social security, arising out of CONTRACTOR's performance of this Agreement. In connection therewith, CONTRACTOR shall defend, indemnify, and hold 3CE harmless from any and all liability which 3CE may incur because of CONTRACTOR's failure to pay such taxes.

#### 13. NOTICES

13.1. Notices required under this Agreement shall be delivered personally or by first-class, postage pre-paid mail to 3CE and CONTRACTOR'S contract administrators at the addresses listed below:

Central Coast Community Energy	CONTRACTOR
Chief Financial Officer	
70 Garden Court, Suite 300	
Monterey, Ca 93940	

## 14. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 14.1. <u>Conflict of Interest.</u> CONTRACTOR represents that it presently has no interest and agrees not to acquire any interest during the term of this Agreement, which would directly, or indirectly conflict in any manner or to any degree with the full and complete performance of the services required to be rendered under this Agreement.
- 14.2. <u>Amendment.</u> This Agreement may be amended or modified only by an instrument in writing signed by 3CE and the CONTRACTOR.
- 14.3. <u>Waiver</u>. Any waiver of any terms and conditions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed by 3CE and the CONTRACTOR. A waiver of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any other terms or conditions in this Agreement.
- 14.4. <u>Contractor</u>. The term "CONTRACTOR" as used in this Agreement includes CONTRACTOR's officers, agents, and employees acting on CONTRACTOR's behalf in the performance of this Agreement.

7/7/2025	6	Contract Number:

- 14.5. <u>Disputes</u>. CONTRACTOR shall continue to perform under this Agreement during any dispute.
- 14.6. <u>Assignment and Subcontracting.</u> The CONTRACTOR shall not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer its interest or obligations in this Agreement without the prior written consent of 3CE None of the services covered by this Agreement shall be subcontracted without the prior written approval of 3CE. Notwithstanding any such subcontract, CONTRACTOR shall continue to be liable for the performance of all requirements of this Agreement.
- 14.7. <u>Successors and Assigns.</u> This Agreement and the rights, privileges, duties, and obligations of 3CE and CONTRACTOR under this Agreement, to the extent assignable or delegable, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors, permitted assigns, and heirs.
- 14.8. <u>Compliance with Applicable Law.</u> The parties shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations in performing this Agreement.
- 14.9. <u>Headings</u>. The headings are for convenience only and shall not be used to interpret the terms of this Agreement.
- 14.10. <u>Time is of the Essence.</u> Time is of the essence in each and all of the provisions of this Agreement.
- 14.11. <u>Governing Law.</u> This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State of California.
- 14.12. <u>Non-exclusive Agreement.</u> This Agreement is non-exclusive and both 3CE and CONTRACTOR expressly reserve the right to contract with other entities for the same or similar services.
- 14.13. <u>Construction of Agreement.</u> 3CE and CONTRACTOR agree that each party has fully participated in the review and revision of this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or any amendment to this Agreement.
- 14.14. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.
- 14.15. <u>Authority</u>. Any individual executing this Agreement on behalf of 3CE or the CONTRACTOR represents and warrants hereby that he or she has the requisite authority to enter into this Agreement on behalf of such party and bind the party to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 14.16. <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement, including the exhibits, represent the entire Agreement between 3CE and the CONTRACTOR with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and shall supersede all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either written or oral,

7/7/2025	7	Contract Number:

between 3CE and the CONTRACTOR as of the effective date of this Agreement, which is the date that 3CE signs the Agreement.

14.17. <u>Interpretation of Conflicting Provisions.</u> In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the Provisions of any exhibit or other attachment to this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail and control.

# SIGNATURE OF THE PARTIES:

Vendor	Central Coast Community Energy
BY: Title:	BY:Robert M. Shaw
Date:	Date:
Vendor	Approved as to Form
BY:	BY:Charles McKee, General Counsel
Date:	Date:
	Approved as to Financial Terms
	BY:
	Date:

# **Exhibit A: Scope of Services**

7/7/2025 9 Contract Number: \_\_\_\_\_

# **Exhibit B: Payment Terms**

7/7/2025

#### Exhibit C: Procedures for Unauthorized Release of Covered Information

# **SCOPE**

CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to adhere to these Procedures for detecting and reporting the unauthorized release of Covered Information, including Protected Personal Information ("PPI").

These Procedures apply to the following unauthorized release activities:

- 1. Unauthorized access
- 2. Unauthorized destruction
- 3. Unauthorized use
- 4. Unauthorized modification
- 5. Disclosure to third parties for Secondary Purposes (see below)

## **DEFINITIONS**

Covered Entity – (1) any Community Choice Aggregator or Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers), or any third party that provides services to a Community Choice Aggregator or Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers) under contract, (2) any third party who accesses, collects, stores, uses or discloses covered information pursuant to an order of the Commission, unless specifically exempted, who obtains this information from an electrical corporation, a Community Choice Aggregator or an Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers), or (3) any third party, when authorized by the customer, that accesses, collects, stores, uses, or discloses covered information relating to 11 or more customers who obtains this information from an electrical corporation, a Community Choice Aggregator or an Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers).

<u>Covered Information</u> -- any usage information obtained through the use of the capabilities of Advanced Metering Infrastructure when associated with any information that can reasonably be used to identify an individual, family, household, residence, or non-residential customer, except that covered information does not include usage information from which identifying information has been removed such that an individual, family, household or residence, or non-residential customer cannot reasonably be identified or re-identified. Covered information, however, does not include information provided to the California Public Utilities Commission (the "Commission") pursuant to its oversight responsibilities.

<u>Primary Purposes</u> – The "primary purposes" for the collection, storage, use, or disclosure of covered information, as outlined in Rule 1(c) of Attachment B, are to:

- 1. Provide or bill for electrical power or gas,
- 2. Provide for system, grid, or operational needs,
- 3. Provide services as required by state or federal law or as specifically authorized by an order of the Commission, or
- 4. Plan, implement, or evaluate demand response, energy management, or energy efficiency programs under contract with a Community Choice Aggregator or and Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers), under contract with the

Commission, or as part of a Commission authorized program conducted by a governmental entity under the supervision of the Commission.

<u>Secondary Purposes</u> – "Secondary purpose" means any purpose that is not a primary purpose.

Non-Covered Entity – "Non-Covered Entity" means any entity not defined as a Covered Entity.

<u>Responsible Parties</u> -- 3CE, CONTRACTOR, and any staff, employees, or sub consultants contracted by 3CE or CONTRACTOR.

## **PROCEDURE**

Detecting and Reporting of Unauthorized Releases

- 1. All Responsible Parties are required to protect Covered Information from unauthorized release activities as set forth above.
- 2. Any request by any non-Covered Entities, for access to Covered Information must be reviewed and approved by an 3CE manager level employee to ensure no unauthorized or inadvertent release of Covered Information.
- 3. All authorized releases of Covered Information to Non-Covered Entities shall be logged and reported to 3CE on a quarterly basis.
- 4. Any discovery of any unauthorized release of Covered Information must be reported to 3CE within one week of detection.

## Unauthorized Release Handling Procedure

- 1. The discovering party after detecting, or discovery of, the unauthorized release of Covered Information must contact 3CE's Dir. of Finance and Administration (or another executive manager) immediately.
- 2. CONTRACTOR will quantify and validate the type and extent of unauthorized release and report that information to 3CE's Dir. of Finance and Administration in writing with sufficient detail for 3CE to determine the extent and impact of the unauthorized release.
- 3. CONTRACTOR shall prepare a written annual report of all discoveries of unauthorized releases of Covered Information.

## **Review and Training**

- 1. At least annually, CONTRACTOR will review these Procedures with its staff, employees, or sub consultants.
- 2. Any proposed changes to these Procedures shall be provided in writing to 3CE's Dir. of Finance and Administration for their consideration.

12

-- End of Sample Agreement Section –

#### **CENTRAL COAST COMMUNITY ENERGY**

### **STANDARD SERVICES AGREEMENT**

This **Agreement** is made by and between CENTRAL COAST COMMUNITY ENERGY ("3CE") and [Enter Business/Vendor Name] (hereinafter "CONTRACTOR"), a [Business Type] business located at [Business Address]. 3CE and CONTRACTOR may be individually referred to herein as "Party" or collectively as "Parties."

In consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Parties agree as follows:

## 1. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

1.1. 3CE hereby engages CONTRACTOR to perform, and CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to perform, the services described in **Exhibit A** in conformity with the terms of this Agreement. The goods and/or services are generally described as: xxxxx

#### 2. PAYMENT PROVISIONS

2.1. 3CE shall pay the CONTRACTOR in accordance with the payment provisions set forth in **Exhibit**B, subject to the limitations set forth in this Agreement. The total amount payable by 3CE to CONTRACTOR under this Agreement shall not exceed the sum of \$

## 3. TERM OF AGREEMENT

- 3.1. The term of this Agreement is from [Start Date] until [End Date] unless sooner terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. This Agreement is of no force or effect until signed by both the CONTRACTOR and 3CE, with 3CE's execution to be last in time. CONTRACTOR may not commence work under this Agreement before 3CE signs this Agreement.
- 3.2. 3CE reserves the right to cancel this Agreement, or any extension of this Agreement, without cause with thirty (30) days written notice, or with cause immediately.

# 4. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS

- 4.1. The following attached exhibits are incorporated herein by reference and constitute a part of this Agreement:
  - 4.1.1.Exhibit A: Scope of Services
  - 4.1.2. Exhibit B: Payment Terms
  - 4.1.3. Exhibit C: Procedures for Unauthorized Release of Covered Information

7/7/2025 1 Contract Number: \_\_\_\_\_\_

## 5. PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

- 5.1. CONTRACTOR warrants that CONTRACTOR and CONTRACTOR's agents, employees and subcontractors performing services under this Agreement are specially trained, experienced, competent, and appropriately licensed to perform the work and deliver the services required under this Agreement and are not employees of 3CE or immediate family of an employee of 3CE.
- 5.2. CONTRACTOR and CONTRACTOR's agents, employees and subcontractors shall perform all work in a safe and skillful manner and in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. All work performed under this Agreement that is required by law to be performed or supervised by licensed personnel shall be performed in accordance with such licensing requirements.
- 5.3. CONTRACTOR shall furnish, at its own expense, all materials, equipment, and personnel necessary to carry out the terms of this Agreement, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall not use 3CE premises, property (including equipment, instruments, or supplies) or personnel for any purpose other than in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

## 6. PAYMENT CONDITIONS

- 6.1. Prices shall remain firm for the initial term of the Agreement and, thereafter, may be adjusted annually as provided herein. 3CE does not guarantee any minimum or maximum amount of dollars to be spent under this Agreement.
- 6.2. Negotiations for rate changes shall be commenced, by CONTRACTOR, a minimum of ninety days (90) prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Rate changes are not binding unless mutually agreed upon in writing by 3CE and the CONTRACTOR.
- 6.3. Invoices shall be submitted monthly on a form acceptable to 3CE and provide sufficient detail, as determined by 3CE, of services rendered for the invoiced period.
- 6.4. 3CE shall certify the invoice for payment in either the amount requested, or in such other amount as 3CE determines is due in conformity with this Agreement. Invoices shall be certified and paid within 45 days of submission to 3CE.

# 7. TERMINATION

- 7.1. During the term of this Agreement, 3CE may terminate the Agreement for any reason by giving written notice of termination to the CONTRACTOR at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of termination. Such notice shall set forth the effective date of termination. In the event of such termination, the amount payable under this Agreement shall be reduced in proportion to the services provided prior to the date of termination.
- 7.2. 3CE may cancel and terminate this Agreement for good cause effective immediately upon written notice to CONTRACTOR. "Good cause" includes the failure of CONTRACTOR to perform

7/7/2025	2	Contract Number:

the required services at the time and in the manner provided under this Agreement. If 3CE terminates this Agreement for good cause, 3CE may be relieved of the payment of any consideration to CONTRACTOR, and 3CE may proceed with the work in any manner, which 3CE deems proper. The cost to 3CE shall be deducted from any sum due the CONTRACTOR under this Agreement.

## 8. INDEMNIFICATION

- 8.1. CONTRACTOR shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless 3CE, its Directors, Board members, officers, agents and employees from any claim, liability, loss, injury or damage arising out of, or in connection with, performance of this Agreement by CONTRACTOR and/or its agents, employees or sub-contractors, excepting only loss, injury or damage caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of personnel employed by 3CE. It is the intent of the parties to this Agreement to provide the broadest possible coverage for 3CE. The CONTRACTOR shall reimburse 3CE for all costs, attorneys' fees, expenses and liabilities incurred with respect to any litigation in which the CONTRACTOR is obligated to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 3CE under this Agreement.
  - 8.1.1.The CONTRACTOR's selection of counsel to satisfy CONTRACTOR's defense and hold harmless obligation as set forth in section 8.1 above, shall be subject to review and approval by 3CE.
  - 8.1.2. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 3CE shall be entitled to participate fully in the defense of any claim or action.

## 9. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

- 9.1. Prior to commencement of this Agreement, the CONTRACTOR shall provide a "Certificate of Insurance" certifying that coverage as required herein has been obtained. Individual endorsements executed by the insurance carrier shall accompany the certificate. In addition, the CONTRACTOR upon request shall provide a certified copy of the policy or policies. This verification of coverage shall be sent to 3CE.
- 9.2. Without limiting CONTRACTOR's duty to defend and indemnify, CONTRACTOR shall maintain in effect throughout the term of this Agreement a policy or policies of insurance with the following minimum limits of liability:
  - 9.2.1.1. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including but not limited to premises and operations, including coverage for Bodily Injury and Property Damage, Personal Injury, Contractual Liability, Broad form Property Damage, Independent Contractors, Products and Completed Operations, and cross-liability with a combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage of not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence, and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate.
  - 9.2.1.2. <u>Business Automobile Liability Insurance</u>, covering all motor vehicles, including owned, leased, non-owned, and hired vehicles, used in providing services under this

7/7/2025	3	Contract Number:

Agreement, with a combined single limit for Bodily Injury and Property Damage of not less than \$500,000 per occurrence.

- 9.2.1.3. Workers' Compensation Insurance, if CONTRACTOR employs others in the performance of this Agreement, in accordance with California Labor Code section 3700 and with Employer's Liability limits not less than \$1,000,000 each person, \$1,000,000 each accident and \$1,000,000 each disease.
- 9.2.1.4. **Professional Liability Insurance,** if required for the professional services being provided, (e.g., those persons authorized by a license to engage in a business or profession regulated by the California Business and Professions Code), in the amount of not less than \$1,000,000 per claim and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate, to cover liability for malpractice or errors or omissions made in the course of rendering professional services. If professional liability insurance is written on a "claims-made" basis rather than an occurrence basis, the CONTRACTOR shall, upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, obtain extended reporting coverage ("tail coverage") with the same liability limits. Any such tail coverage shall continue for at least three years following the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.
- 9.3. Unless otherwise specified by this Agreement, all such insurance shall be written on an occurrence basis, or, if the policy is not written on an occurrence basis, such policy with the coverage required herein shall continue in effect for a period of three years following the date CONTRACTOR completes its performance of services under this Agreement.
- 9.4. Commercial general liability and automobile liability policies shall provide an endorsement naming 3CE, its Directors, Board members, officers, agents, and employees as Additional Insureds with respect to liability arising out of the CONTRACTOR'S work, including ongoing and completed operations, and shall further provide that such insurance is primary insurance to any insurance or self-insurance maintained by 3CE and that the insurance of the Additional Insureds shall not be called upon to contribute to a loss covered by the CONTRACTOR'S insurance.

## 10. RECORD AND CONFIDENTIALITY

10.1. CONTRACTOR and its officers, employees, agents, and subcontractors shall comply with any and all federal, state, and local laws, which provide for the confidentiality of records and other information. CONTRACTOR shall not disclose any confidential records or other confidential information received from 3CE or prepared in connection with the performance of this Agreement, unless 3CE specifically permits CONTRACTOR to disclose such records or information. CONTRACTOR shall promptly transmit to 3CE any and all requests for disclosure of any such confidential records or information. CONTRACTOR shall not use any confidential information gained by CONTRACTOR in the performance of this Agreement except for the sole purpose of carrying out CONTRACTOR's obligations under this Agreement.

7/7/2025	4	Contract Number:

- 10.1.1. Confidential Information specifically includes Covered Information (as defined in Exhibit C), including Protected Personal Information("PPI") that identifies, relates to, describes, or is capable of being associated with, or could reasonably be linked, directly or indirectly, with a consumer, household, or customer account. All such Covered Information and PPI must fully be protected from disclosure as set forth in California Public Utility Commission Decision D.12-08-045. In the event of an unauthorized release of Covered Information and PPI, CONTRACTOR shall comply with Exhibit C, Procedures for Unauthorized Release of Covered Information.
- 10.2. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall return to 3CE any 3CE records which CONTRACTOR used or received from 3CE to perform services under this Agreement.
- 10.3. CONTRACTOR shall prepare, maintain, and preserve all reports and records that may be required by federal, state, and local rules and regulations related to services performed under this Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall maintain such records for a period of at least three years after receipt of final payment under this Agreement. If any litigation, claim, negotiation, audit exception, or other action relating to this Agreement is pending at the end of the three-year period, then CONTRACTOR shall retain said records until such action is resolved.
- 10.4. 3CE shall have the right to examine, monitor and audit all records, documents, conditions, and activities of the CONTRACTOR and its subcontractors related to services provided under this Agreement. Pursuant to Government Code section 8546.7, if this Agreement involves the expenditure of public funds in excess of \$10,000, the parties to this Agreement may be subject, at the request of 3CE or as part of any audit of 3CE, to the examination and audit of the State Auditor pertaining to matters connected with the performance of this Agreement for a period of three years after final payment under the Agreement.
- 10.5. 3CE shall have a royalty-free, exclusive and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, and use, and authorize others to do so, all original computer programs, writings, sound recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, and other works of similar nature produced in the course of or under this Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall not publish any such material without the prior written approval of 3CE.

## 11. NON-DISCRIMINATION

11.1. During the performance of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR, and its subcontractors, shall not unlawfully discriminate against any person because of race, religious creed, color, sex, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental disability, medical condition, marital status, age (over 40), or sexual orientation, either in CONTRACTOR's employment practices or in the furnishing of services to recipients. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that the evaluation and treatment of its employees and applicants for employment and all persons receiving and requesting services are free of such discrimination. CONTRACTOR and any subcontractor shall, in the performance of this Agreement, fully comply with all federal, state, and local laws and

7/7/2025	5	Contract Number:

regulations which prohibit discrimination. The provision of services primarily or exclusively to such target population as may be designated in this Agreement shall not be deemed to be prohibited discrimination.

## 12. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

12.1. In the performance of work, duties, and obligations under this Agreement, CONTRACTOR is at all times acting and performing as an independent contractor and not as an employee of 3CE. No offer or obligation of permanent employment with 3CE and CONTRACTOR shall not become entitled by virtue of this Agreement to receive from 3CE any form of employee benefits including but not limited to sick leave, vacation, retirement benefits, workers' compensation coverage, insurance or disability benefits. CONTRACTOR shall be solely liable for and obligated to pay directly all applicable taxes, including federal and state income taxes and social security, arising out of CONTRACTOR's performance of this Agreement. In connection therewith, CONTRACTOR shall defend, indemnify, and hold 3CE harmless from any and all liability which 3CE may incur because of CONTRACTOR's failure to pay such taxes.

#### 13. NOTICES

13.1. Notices required under this Agreement shall be delivered personally or by first-class, postage pre-paid mail to 3CE and CONTRACTOR'S contract administrators at the addresses listed below:

Central Coast Community Energy	CONTRACTOR
Chief Financial Officer	
70 Garden Court, Suite 300	
Monterey, Ca 93940	

## 14. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 14.1. <u>Conflict of Interest.</u> CONTRACTOR represents that it presently has no interest and agrees not to acquire any interest during the term of this Agreement, which would directly, or indirectly conflict in any manner or to any degree with the full and complete performance of the services required to be rendered under this Agreement.
- 14.2. <u>Amendment.</u> This Agreement may be amended or modified only by an instrument in writing signed by 3CE and the CONTRACTOR.
- 14.3. <u>Waiver</u>. Any waiver of any terms and conditions of this Agreement must be in writing and signed by 3CE and the CONTRACTOR. A waiver of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any other terms or conditions in this Agreement.
- 14.4. <u>Contractor</u>. The term "CONTRACTOR" as used in this Agreement includes CONTRACTOR's officers, agents, and employees acting on CONTRACTOR's behalf in the performance of this Agreement.

7/7/2025	6	Contract Number:

- 14.5. <u>Disputes</u>. CONTRACTOR shall continue to perform under this Agreement during any dispute.
- 14.6. <u>Assignment and Subcontracting.</u> The CONTRACTOR shall not assign, sell, or otherwise transfer its interest or obligations in this Agreement without the prior written consent of 3CE None of the services covered by this Agreement shall be subcontracted without the prior written approval of 3CE. Notwithstanding any such subcontract, CONTRACTOR shall continue to be liable for the performance of all requirements of this Agreement.
- 14.7. <u>Successors and Assigns.</u> This Agreement and the rights, privileges, duties, and obligations of 3CE and CONTRACTOR under this Agreement, to the extent assignable or delegable, shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors, permitted assigns, and heirs.
- 14.8. <u>Compliance with Applicable Law.</u> The parties shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations in performing this Agreement.
- 14.9. <u>Headings</u>. The headings are for convenience only and shall not be used to interpret the terms of this Agreement.
- 14.10. <u>Time is of the Essence.</u> Time is of the essence in each and all of the provisions of this Agreement.
- 14.11. <u>Governing Law.</u> This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the State of California.
- 14.12. <u>Non-exclusive Agreement.</u> This Agreement is non-exclusive and both 3CE and CONTRACTOR expressly reserve the right to contract with other entities for the same or similar services.
- 14.13. <u>Construction of Agreement.</u> 3CE and CONTRACTOR agree that each party has fully participated in the review and revision of this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or any amendment to this Agreement.
- 14.14. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.
- 14.15. <u>Authority</u>. Any individual executing this Agreement on behalf of 3CE or the CONTRACTOR represents and warrants hereby that he or she has the requisite authority to enter into this Agreement on behalf of such party and bind the party to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 14.16. <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement, including the exhibits, represent the entire Agreement between 3CE and the CONTRACTOR with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and shall supersede all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either written or oral,

7/7/2025	7	Contract Number:

between 3CE and the CONTRACTOR as of the effective date of this Agreement, which is the date that 3CE signs the Agreement.

14.17. <u>Interpretation of Conflicting Provisions.</u> In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the Provisions of any exhibit or other attachment to this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail and control.

# SIGNATURE OF THE PARTIES:

Vendor	Central Coast Community Energy
BY:Title:	
Date:	Date:
Vendor	Approved as to Form
BY:	
Date:	Date:
	Approved as to Financial Terms
	BY: Dewayne Woods, Chief Financial Officer
	Date:

# **Exhibit A: Scope of Services**

7/7/2025 9 Contract Number: \_\_\_\_\_

# **Exhibit B: Payment Terms**

7/7/2025

### **Exhibit C: Procedures for Unauthorized Release of Covered Information**

# **SCOPE**

CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to adhere to these Procedures for detecting and reporting the unauthorized release of Covered Information, including Protected Personal Information ("PPI").

These Procedures apply to the following unauthorized release activities:

- 1. Unauthorized access
- 2. Unauthorized destruction
- 3. Unauthorized use
- 4. Unauthorized modification
- 5. Disclosure to third parties for Secondary Purposes (see below)

## **DEFINITIONS**

Covered Entity – (1) any Community Choice Aggregator or Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers), or any third party that provides services to a Community Choice Aggregator or Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers) under contract, (2) any third party who accesses, collects, stores, uses or discloses covered information pursuant to an order of the Commission, unless specifically exempted, who obtains this information from an electrical corporation, a Community Choice Aggregator or an Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers), or (3) any third party, when authorized by the customer, that accesses, collects, stores, uses, or discloses covered information relating to 11 or more customers who obtains this information from an electrical corporation, a Community Choice Aggregator or an Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers).

<u>Covered Information</u> -- any usage information obtained through the use of the capabilities of Advanced Metering Infrastructure when associated with any information that can reasonably be used to identify an individual, family, household, residence, or non-residential customer, except that covered information does not include usage information from which identifying information has been removed such that an individual, family, household or residence, or non-residential customer cannot reasonably be identified or re-identified. Covered information, however, does not include information provided to the California Public Utilities Commission (the "Commission") pursuant to its oversight responsibilities.

<u>Primary Purposes</u> – The "primary purposes" for the collection, storage, use, or disclosure of covered information, as outlined in Rule 1(c) of Attachment B, are to:

- 1. Provide or bill for electrical power or gas,
- 2. Provide for system, grid, or operational needs,
- 3. Provide services as required by state or federal law or as specifically authorized by an order of the Commission, or
- 4. Plan, implement, or evaluate demand response, energy management, or energy efficiency programs under contract with a Community Choice Aggregator or and Electrical Service Provider (when providing service to residential or small commercial customers), under contract with the

Commission, or as part of a Commission authorized program conducted by a governmental entity under the supervision of the Commission.

<u>Secondary Purposes</u> – "Secondary purpose" means any purpose that is not a primary purpose.

Non-Covered Entity – "Non-Covered Entity" means any entity not defined as a Covered Entity.

<u>Responsible Parties</u> -- 3CE, CONTRACTOR, and any staff, employees, or sub consultants contracted by 3CE or CONTRACTOR.

## **PROCEDURE**

Detecting and Reporting of Unauthorized Releases

- 1. All Responsible Parties are required to protect Covered Information from unauthorized release activities as set forth above.
- 2. Any request by any non-Covered Entities, for access to Covered Information must be reviewed and approved by an 3CE manager level employee to ensure no unauthorized or inadvertent release of Covered Information.
- 3. All authorized releases of Covered Information to Non-Covered Entities shall be logged and reported to 3CE on a quarterly basis.
- 4. Any discovery of any unauthorized release of Covered Information must be reported to 3CE within one week of detection.

## Unauthorized Release Handling Procedure

- 1. The discovering party after detecting, or discovery of, the unauthorized release of Covered Information must contact 3CE's Dir. of Finance and Administration (or another executive manager) immediately.
- 2. CONTRACTOR will quantify and validate the type and extent of unauthorized release and report that information to 3CE's Dir. of Finance and Administration in writing with sufficient detail for 3CE to determine the extent and impact of the unauthorized release.
- 3. CONTRACTOR shall prepare a written annual report of all discoveries of unauthorized releases of Covered Information.

## **Review and Training**

- 1. At least annually, CONTRACTOR will review these Procedures with its staff, employees, or sub consultants.
- 2. Any proposed changes to these Procedures shall be provided in writing to 3CE's Dir. of Finance and Administration for their consideration.

12

-- End of Sample Agreement Section –